## **RECEIVED**

01-15-2014

#### SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff - Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2012AP000046-CR

JIMOTHY A. JENKINS,

Defendant - Appellant - Petitioner

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT – APPELLANT - PETITIONER, JIMOTHY A. JENKINS

AN APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDERS OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MIILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CARL ASHLEY AND REBECCA DALLET, PRESIDING.

By: Attorney Joseph E. Redding State Bar No. 1023263 Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

P.O. Address Glojek Limited 6212 West Greenfield Avenue West Allis, WI 53214 (414)774-3414

##

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Defendant-Appellant, JIMOTHY A. JENKINS ("JENKINS"), submits that the issues for appeal are:

**ISSUE #1**: Was Jenkins denied his Constitutional Rights to Counsel when his attorney failed to investigate and call to testify a witness who was: A) A neutral eyewitness who would have testified that Jenkins was not the shooter and that she saw him minutes after the shooting; and B) a witness who would have testified that another person confessed to committing the homicide for which Jenkins was convicted?

## **ANSWERED BY CIRCUIT COURT and COURT OF APPEALS**: No.

**ISSUE #2**: Was the real controversy fully tried in this matter despite the lack of testimony from Cera Jones, an eyewitness, who would have testified that Jenkins was not the shooter and that she saw him shortly after the shooting, and from Corey Moore, who would have testified that Christopher Blunt confessed to this shooting?

## **ANSWERED BY CIRCUIT COURT and COURT OF APPEALS**: Yes.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under sec. 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under 809.22(2)(a).

#### STATEMENT REGARDING PUBLICATION

Publication is proper under § 809.23(1)(b) Wis. Stats., as Jenkins brings an issue of first impression on the standard the court must use in determining if a defendant has satisfied prong two of the <u>Strickland</u> test when the deficient performance of trial counsel involves the failure to investigate and call an eyewitness.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an August 17, 2009 judgment of conviction<sup>1</sup> (R.33;P-Ap.p.111-112) and a December 30, 2011 order denying postconviction relief (R.58:8;P-Ap.p.116;R. 80:27;P-Ap.p.141), all in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Carl Ashley and Rebecca Dallett presiding.<sup>2</sup> A jury found Jenkins guilty of one count of first degree intentional homicide with use of a dangerous weapon as a party to a crime in violation of §940.01(1)(a), §939.63 & §939.05 Wis. Stats. (2009-2010); first degree reckless injury in violation of §940.23(1)(a), §939.63 & §939.05 Wis. Stats. (2009-2010); and possession of a firearm by a felon in violation of §941.29(2) Wis.Stats (2009-2010). Ap.p.111-112). Jenkins received a life in prison sentence, with eligibility for extended supervision after 40 years, plus 14 consecutive years of prison for the reckless injury (Id.). The circuit court also denied Jenkins' postconviction motion for a new trial. (R.58:8;P-Ap.p. 116;R.80:27;P-Ap.p.141). The Court of Appeals affirmed. (P-Ap.p.101-110).

#### Statement of the facts

In the early morning of March 23, 2007, Anthony Weaver (Weaver) and Toy Kimber (Kimber) were driving a car that ran out of gas at 2100 North 38<sup>th</sup> Street in Milwaukee, seven blocks from where Kimber lived on 45<sup>th</sup> Street. (R.72:7-9). The location is significant because those who live on 38<sup>th</sup> Street don't like those who live on 45<sup>th</sup> Street hanging around, and vice versa. (R.72:29; R.73:102-104).

Weaver and Kimber got out of the car on 38<sup>th</sup> Street and began talking to two girls. (R.72:9-10). One of these girls was Cera Jones. (R.45:18-19;P-Ap.198-199). A car drove past, suddenly did a U-turn at the end of the block, and returned to the location where Weaver, Timber, and the girls were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The judgment of conviction was corrected on September 1, 2009. (R.34;P-Ap.p.113-115).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Judge Ashley presided over the trial. Judge Dallett presided over the postconviction motions.

standing. (R.72:11-12). A man then stepped from the back seat of the car, pointed a gun with a red laser beam at them, and discharged four or five shots. (R.72:12-14 & 15). Weaver was killed and Kimber was shot in the leg.

The police spoke to Cera Jones minutes after the shooting. (R.45:18-19;P-Ap.198-199). She told the police that she saw a brown, four-door, older model Cutlass drive the wrong way down the one way street. (Id.). She stated that a black male got out of the rear passenger side of the car and yelled "yea nigga I told you I was gonna get yall" and then started shooting a rifle with a banana clip that had a laser sight. (Id.). She stated she did not previously know Kimber or Weaver. (Id.). The police report indicated that Jones did not see the shooter because it was dark and he was wearing a hoodie. (R.45:18-19;P-Ap.p.198-199).

The police also spoke to Kimber minutes after the shooting, and according to the police, Kimber did not know the identity of the person who shot him. (R.71:23). Kimber said that the shooter was wearing a black hoodie and stepped out of a tan Cutlass. (R.71:24-25). He claimed a woman was driving and two black males were also in the car. (Id.).

The next morning, Detective Wesley presented a photo array to Kimber. (R.72:50). Despite the fact Kimber was unable to identify the shooter immediately after it happened, Kimber was now able to identify Jenkins as the shooter. (R.72:56). Kimber knew Jenkins for about three years prior to this incident as his cousin dated Jenkins' sister. (R.72:14). In fact, on the night of the shooting, Kimber was hanging out at the same "trap house" where Jenkins was hanging out. (R.72:15).

Despite the identification by Kimber, the police continued their investigation a week later (April 1, 2007) by reinterviewing Cera Jones. (R.45:20-22;P-Ap.200-202). She described the shooter as: "a black male, 20-21 yoa, 5'08", medium build, medium complexion, clean shaven-baby face, and that he was wearing a black hooded sweatshirt." (R.45:21; P-Ap.p.201). She noted that she had never seen the shooter before, but thought she could identify him. (R.45:22;P-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>A trap house is a place for friends to hang out and drink. (R.73:27).

Ap.p.202). Jones however was familiar with Jenkins as she knew him from the neighborhood. (R.45:25-26;P-Ap.p.205-206).

On April 3, 2007 Jones was shown a photo lineup of suspects, including Jenkins. (R.45:23-24;P-Ap.p.203-204). She told the police none of the photos she observed were of the shooter. (<u>Id</u>.). The police also showed her a photo of Jenkins' sister's burgundy Buick LeSabre. (<u>Id</u>.). Jones told the officers that this definitely was not the car that the shooter was riding in. (<u>Id</u>.). While the police report does not reflect it, Jones told the police that she recognized Jenkins' photo, but he was definitely not the shooter. (R.45:25;P-Ap.p.205). Further, Jones swore that she saw Jenkins minutes after the shooting on a porch across the street from the shooting. (<u>Id</u>.).

Jenkins was eventually arrested and charged for this shooting. While waiting for trial, Jenkins was housed in the same jail pod (3C) as Corey Moore and Christopher Blunt. (R.45:32;P-Ap.p. 212). While in jail, Blunt approached Jenkins and stated: "I know you. Where you from? I know you from a porch party." (R.45:10;P-Ap.p.207; R.46). Blunt remembered Jenkins because of Jenkins' heavy acne scars. (Id.). Blunt then asked Jenkins: "do you fuck with those niggers in the 4's?" Jenkins explained that he knew people in the 40's streets. (Id.). Blunt then confided to Jenkins: "I'm from the 3's and I'm going to keep it real with you. Do you know Toy and Anthony? I'm the dude that shot Toy and killed Anthony." (Id.). Blunt explained that these individuals had previously beat up his brother, giving him a black eye. (Id.). Blunt further clarified that he was riding around in a stolen car around 38<sup>th</sup> or 39<sup>th</sup> Street, saw Kimber and Weaver, told his brother to make a U-turn, then shot Weaver and Kimber with a rifle type 9. (R.45:11;P-Ap.p.208). Moore overheard this entire conversation. (R.45:27-28;P-Ap.p.207-208).

Jenkins told his attorney about Blunt's statement. (R.46). Shortly after Blunt's statement, Jenkins' counsel wrote a letter to the ADA about Blunt and Moore. (R.45:33;P-Ap.p.213). To Jenkins' knowledge, no follow up was done until nearly a year later when counsel again asked the ADA to talk to Moore. (R.45:34;P-Ap.p.214). Counsel noted: "I find Moore to be credible and willing to cooperate, this even though

there is nothing in it for him and, it could be argued, some risk given his status." (<u>Id</u>.). Jenkins wanted to call Moore and Blunt as witnesses at his trial. (R.77:75).

#### **TRIAL**

A trial was conducted accusing Jenkins of first degree intentional homicide, first degree reckless injury, and felon in possession of a firearm. While many witnesses were called<sup>4</sup>, the case boiled down to a credibility contest between Kimber - who alleged that Jenkins was the shooter, and Jenkins - who denied he was the shooter, insisting he was at the trap house when the shooting occurred.

At trial, Kimber's story now changed. He testified he immediately told the responding police officer that Jenkins was the shooter. (R.72:34&46). This was directly contrary to the testimony of the responding officer (Officer Kraker), who testified that at the shooting scene, Kimber stated that he did not know who shot him. (R.71:23).

Jenkins testified that he was in the trap house on 38<sup>th</sup> Street when the shooting occurred. (R.73:70). He testified that he was there with several people, including Daniel McFadden. (R.73:70-71). He testified that he did not shoot a gun, much less at either of the victims in this case. (R.73:72).

Jenkins' alibi Daniel McFadden (aka Lil' Frankie) testified that he was in the trap house when he heard the shooting. (R.73:21). He stated that he woke up Jenkins, who was with him in the house at the time of the shooting, and within two to five minutes after the shots they went outside.

<sup>4</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State's other witnesses included responding officers Byers and Kraker (R.71:15 & 20); lead detective Chavez (R.71:27); assistant medical coroner Tlomak (R.71:39); firearm expert Simonson (R.71:51); Detective Wesley (conducted a photo lineup for Kimber) (R.72:48); Citizen Dewan Robinson, who allegedly told the police that Jenkins referred to the homicide as "it wasn't nothing" and Jenkins had previously handled a gun with a laser site (although Robinson denied this at trial) (R.72:78); and Det. Hutchinson who interviewed Robinson (R.72: 88). Other than Jenkins, the Defense called Det.Walton to show Kimber previously knew Jenkins (R.73:11) and the alibi witness McFadden (R.73:18). The State then called witnesses to rebut the alibi in Kristeena Coleman (R.74:8) and Det. Norman and Det. Kopcha (R.74:17 & 20). Det. Kopcha and Mueller also testified about Jenkins' statement. (R.74:20 & 28).

(R.73:21-22&24). Once outside, McFadden walked across the street and gave the injured Kimber a cell phone to use to call his mom. (R.73:36-37). McFadden testified that Kimber was at the "trap house" earlier in the day of the shooting. (R.73 at 26). McFadden admitted that at one point he told the police Jenkins was not in the trap house at the time of the shooting, but he did this only because he was scared from police threats. (R.73:25-26).

The parties also stipulated that Kimber had five adult convictions and four juvenile adjudications, Jenkins had two prior juvenile adjudications, and McFadden had one adult conviction and three juvenile adjudications. (R.74:34). Neither the State, nor Jenkins' trial counsel, called Cera Jones, Christopher Blunt or Cory Moore to testify. The State subpoenaed Jones for a previously scheduled trial, but sent her home, telling her she was not needed, and nobody called her for the new trial date. (R.45:25; P-Ap.p.205).

Jenkins was found guilty on all three counts and received a life in prison sentence, with eligibility for extended supervision after 40 years, plus an additional 14 year prison sentence for the reckless injury conviction. (R.75; R.76:42).

#### POSTCONVICTON PROCEEDINGS

Appointed postconviction counsel hired an investigator to interview Christopher Blunt who denied any knowledge of the shooting and denied knowing Jenkins. (R.45:29;P-Ap.p.209). The investigator also took statements from Corey Moore and Cera Jones. (R.45:25-28;P-Ap.p.205-208). Jenkins then filed a motion for new trial based upon ineffective assistance of counsel and in the interest of justice. (R.45). Jenkins claimed that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, subpoena<sup>5</sup>, and call Cera Jones to testify. (<u>Id</u>.). Further, he claimed that his counsel provided ineffective assistance for failing to subpoena and call Moore and Blunt to testify. (<u>Id</u>.).

5

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Jenkins abandons his "failure to subpoena" allegation of his claim to utilize energy and space for his remaining, stronger arguments.

A <u>Machner</u> hearing was conducted. (R.77;P-Ap.p.143-195). First, the parties stipulated that if Blunt and Moore testified, they would have testified similar to the statements they gave to Jenkins' investigator. (R.77:8-9;R.77:69-71). Further, the parties stipulated that Moore, Jenkins, and Blunt were all in the same jail pod together, as demonstrated by the jail records. (R.77:69-71; R.45:27;P-Ap.p.212).

As required, trial counsel took the stand to explain his actions. (R.77:15-50; P-Ap.p.143-178). Counsel testified that the theory of the case was to attack Kimber's identification of Jenkins and to present an alibi as to Jenkins' whereabouts at the time of the shooting. (R.77:30-31:P-Ap.p.158-159).

Counsel was uncertain if he met with Jones, but thought he talked to her, although he could not specifically recall her. (R.77:16,26&41;P-Ap.p.149,144&169). Counsel testified he would have read the police reports where Jones gave a description of the shooter. (R.77:20;P-Ap.p.148). Counsel did not remember discussing the photo lineup with Jones. (R.77:22;P-Ap.p.150). Counsel could not recall where Jones fit into the theory of defense. (R.77:23:11;P-Ap.p.151). Counsel did not recall why he did not ask Detective Walton, who conducted the photo array for Jones, if Jones failed to identify Jenkins as the shooter. (R.77:25;P-Ap.p.153). Counsel admitted he placed Jones on the defense witness list, but was unsure if he spoke to her before doing so. (R.77:26:25;P-Ap.p.154). Finally, counsel admitted he could not recall why he decided not to call Jones as a witness. (R.77:18:P-Ap.p.146).

Counsel stated that when he became aware of Moore, he let the ADA know Moore had exculpatory information. (R.77:27;P-Ap.p.155). Counsel agreed that Moore would have been "credible." (R.77:32-33;P-Ap.p.160-161). Counsel admitted he never spoke to Blunt and did not really search for him, other than knowing he was at the jail. (R.77:31-32;P-Ap.p.159-160). Counsel hired an investigator but does not recall to whom this investigator spoke. (R.77:34-35;P-Ap.p.162-163).

Cera Jones also testified at the <u>Machner</u> hearing. (R.77: 53-67;P-Ap.p.181-195). She testified that she was familiar with Jenkins, but she and Jenkins were not family and not

romantically linked. (R.77:53-54;P-Ap.p.181-182). stated she spoke to Jenkins' trial counsel, gave her phone number and address to him, and was told that counsel would get back to her. (R.77:54;P-Ap.p.182). Jones testified that when she viewed the photo array, she knew Jenkins' picture was in it, and told the officer Jenkins wasn't the shooter. (R.77:56;P-Ap.p.184). Jones testified that the officers had tried to convince her that Jenkins' was the shooter and that the burgundy car was the shooter's car. (R.77:56&58:P-Ap.p.184&186). She testified that she remembered Jenkins coming out of the trap house across the street three to five minutes after the shooting. (R.77:58;P-Ap.p.186). She also remembers telling the officer that the shooter had a smooth baby face, a feature which Jenkins does not possess. (R.77:59;P-Ap.p.187). Jones also testified that Jenkins was not the shooter and she had wanted to tell that to the jury. (Id.). Jones testified that she told officers the night of the incident that she saw the shooter's face before he put the hood up, and the officer is mistaken if his report reflects otherwise. (R.77:61;P-Ap.p.189).

Jenkins testified that he mentioned Cera Jones to his trial counsel, but does not know if his counsel ever looked into it, only telling him it was a "dead end." (R.77:74-75). He also testified that counsel told him Moore was credible as a witness. (R.77:75).

The post conviction court denied Jenkins' motion for a new trial. (R.80:27; R.58:8;P-Ap.p.141&116). As to Jones, the court noted trial counsel did not have "real strong recollections of a specific. So it was difficult to assess." (R.80:5;P-Ap.p.119). As a result, the court was unable to determine if trial counsel's performance was deficient, so it made its decision based upon the prejudice prong instead. (R.80:9;P-Ap.p.123). The court ruled that Jenkins did not meet his burden to show prejudice to the defense because of inconsistencies in Jones' statements. The court started by denying the motion:

And the reason that I think that the defense can't meet that burden is because I think that there are just way too many inconsistencies with Miss Jones' statements and I think all of

what she testified to is frankly she just did not come across as a credible witness. I'm going to go through those specifics that show that I don't believe that she was credible and I think that the jury would have had difficulty with some of these statements as well.

(R.80:10;P-Ap.p.124). The court listed the inconsistencies and Jones' involvement with a petty marijuana sale just prior to the shooting, concluding:

So I just think that given the contradictions in her testimony, I don't find her credible. I think she would have been impeached on the stand with all these statements and her descriptions kept changing. And I think that based on that, even if she had testified, there is not a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different.

(R.80:18;P-Ap.p.132).

The court also denied the motion in regards to the failure to call Blunt and Moore as witnesses. (R.80:20-27;P-Ap.p.134-141). The court found it was not deficient performance to fail to call Blunt because Blunt would have just denied doing the shooting. (R.80:22-23). The court found that it was not deficient to call Moore, because he may not have been available and his statement would be inadmissible hearsay, either because the court felt it wasn't an inconsistent statement, or there was not sufficient corroboration to admit it as a statement against penal interest. (R.80:23-27;P-Ap.p.137-141). The court also denied the motion for a new trial in the interest of justice. (R.80:27;P-Ap.p.141).

Jenkins then filed a notice of appeal. (R.58). The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in a non-published decision. (P-Ap.p.101-110). The Court of Appeals agreed with the Circuit Court that Jones had too many contradictions to say that there is a reasonable probability the result would have been different if she would have testified. (P-Ap.p.107; ¶15-¶19). The court mentioned Jenkins' argument that the postconviction court invaded the providence of the jury in deciding the prejudice prong of the motion, but refused to

address it further. (P-Ap.p.107;¶15,n.3). The court also concluded that the failure to call Blunt or Moore was not prejudicial and such testimony "was inconsistent with the alibi defense and theory that Kimber's identification was faulty, [thus] failing to call Blunt was not deficient." (P-Ap.p.109-110;¶22). Lastly, the court concluded that this matter should not be reversed in the interest of justice since this case was about ineffective assistance of counsel and not about an erroneous trial court ruling. (P-Ap.p.110;¶24).

#### **ARGUMENTS**

- I. **JENKINS** WAS **DENIED** HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO COUNSEL TRIAL WHEN HIS **COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE** WAS **DEFICIENT** FAILINGTO: A) INVESTIGATE AND CALL CERA JONES TO TESTIFY; AND B) TO SUBPOENA AND CALL CORY MOORE AND CHRISTOPHER BLUNT TO TESTIFY, AND SUCH **PERFORMANCE PREJUDICED** JENKINS' DEFENSE.
  - A. The Standard Of Review For An Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Claim Is A Mixed Standard.

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