RECEIVED 02-04-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT WISCONSIN

No. 2012AP46-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JIMOTHY A. JENKINS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A
DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF
APPEALS, AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF
CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A
MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF,
ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE
CARL ASHLEY AND REBECCA F. DALLET,
PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN
Attorney General
AARON R. O'NEIL
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1041818
Attorneys for PlaintiffRespondent

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

Jones's testimony also would have added little, if anything, to Jenkins' alibi. Jones said she saw Jenkins exit a nearby house three to five minutes after the shooting. This testimony would not have accounted for Jenkins' whereabouts during the crime itself and placed him at the crime scene shortly after the shooting. court of appeals held, this is not really even alibi Jenkins, No. 2012AP46-CR, ¶ 18 testimony. (""[A]n alibi is a defense that at the time of the crime the defendant was so distant from the scene that his participation in the crime was impossible. ... [A] purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all."") (quoting State v. Harp, 2005 WI App 250, ¶ 16, 288 Wis. 2d 441, 707 N.W.2d 304).

Jenkins contends that the circuit court erred in finding he was not prejudiced because it found Jones not credible based on her inconsistencies (Jenkins' brief at 20; 80:10, 18). Specifically, he claims that the court improperly invaded the jury's province by assessing Jones's credibility, and argues that in resolving a claim like his, it is inappropriate for a court to determine whether the jury would have believed a witness in light of her inconsistent statements (Jenkins' brief at 14-15, 20).

Instead, Jenkins asserts, the proper standard for prejudice is whether there is a reasonable probability of a different result had the witness testified (Jenkins' brief at 14-15, 21). The State agrees, but like the court of appeals, fails to see how the circuit court did not apply this standard to Jenkins' claim. *Jenkins*, No. 2012AP46-CR, ¶ 15 n.3. The court made its comment about Jones's credibility as part of its

overall finding that Jenkins was not prejudiced. It stated:

So I just think that given the contradictions in her testimony, I don't find her credible. I think she would have been impeached on the stand with all these statements and her descriptions kept changing. And I think that based on that, even if she had testified, there is not a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different.

(80:18). The court later reiterated this holding (80:20).

Jenkins has not proven any reversible error. Even if the circuit court erred by saying it found Jones not credible, its overall conclusion that it was not probable that the result of the trial would have been different had Jones testified reflects an application of the correct legal standard.

Oddly, Jenkins hardly acknowledges the problems with Jones's proposed testimony, only admitting they exist and would have provided "fodder for cross examination" (Jenkins' brief at 21, 26). But by not addressing their substance, he ignores the basis on which both circuit court and the court of appeals rejected his claim, and has failed to show that either court erred.³

³ The State is confused whether Jenkins even thinks the inconsistencies matter to resolving his claim. He appears to have abandoned his court of appeals position that the circuit court was required to assume the jury would have believed Jones's supportive testimony in determining if he was prejudiced, which presumably would also have required the reviewing court to ignore the (footnote continued)

Further, Jenkins overstates the value of Jones's testimony. He argues that he was prejudiced by the absence of Jones because Kimber's identification of him was "less than iron clad" (Jenkins' brief at 21). While it is true that police testified that Kimber initially said he did not know who the shooter was, he disputed this at trial (71:26; 72:34). Kimber also identified Jenkins as the shooter in a photo array (72:56-58). Jones also was unable to initially give a description of the shooter, but later provided one to police. Her testimony would not have undercut Kimber's testimony any more than Backes was able to on cross-examination (72:30-38). Likewise, while Jenkins points to Kimber's numerous prior convictions making him a less believable witness, Jones's credibility would also have been easily undermined, and the jury would not have given much weight to her description of the shooter (Jenkins' brief at 22).

Jenkins contends the jury would likely have believed Jones because she was a "neutral" witness (Jenkins' brief at 24-25). It would have been extraordinarily difficult for Backes to present Jones as neutral in light of her inconsistent statements. Jones knew Jenkins (77:65). Further, if Jones was truly unbiased, there would have

inconsistencies (Jenkins' court of appeals' brief-in-chief at 16). His reluctance to acknowledge them in this court suggests that he believes they are, at best, minimally relevant to his claim. Given the foregoing arguments, it is sufficient to say the State believes they are not only very important to determining whether Backes was ineffective for not calling Jones, but essentially determinative of this claim.

been no reason for her description of the events, particularly her description of the shooter, to evolve as it did. If anything, Jones's changing stories and her eventual description of the shooter as someone without Jenkins' distinctive facial features would let a jury conclude that her testimony was improperly influenced to support him.

Finally, Jenkins focuses on the purported weakness of the State's case in arguing he was prejudiced by the absence of Jones's testimony (Jenkins' brief at 21, 26). But whatever the shortcomings in the State's case, they must be balanced against the numerous problems with Jones's testimony. As noted, Jenkins barely acknowledges them in his brief, and Jones did not provide any satisfactory explanation for them at the *Machner* hearing. Jenkins has not established he was prejudiced.

- C. Backes was not ineffective for failing to present evidence of Blunt's confession.
 - 1. Deficient performance.

Next, Jenkins contends Backes should have subpoenaed and presented Blunt and Moore as witnesses at trial to testify about Blunt's jailhouse confession to the crimes (Jenkins' brief at 27-31). Blunt denied confessing to Jenkins' postconviction investigator (45:30). Jenkins maintains that if Blunt did the same at trial, or invoked his privilege against self-incrimination, Moore could have testified about the confession, which would

have been admissible as a statement against interest or a prior inconsistent statement (Jenkins' brief at 28-30). *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 908.045(1); 908.01(4)(a)1.

Backes did not perform deficiently. He learned about Blunt's alleged confession from Jenkins and took steps to obtain permission from Moore's attorney to speak to Moore about it (77:27-35). Backes also wrote several letters to asking prosecutor him to have enforcement interview Moore (45:34-35, 37; 77:29-Backes testified that Moore's attorney 30. 49). prevented detectives from doing so (77:30, 33). The prosecutor confirmed this, saying that Moore's counsel would not approve the meeting because Moore was in the postconviction stage of his homicide conviction (56:4; 77:11-12).

Backes also testified that although he was aware that Blunt had supposedly confessed and Jenkins thought it was "the holy grail, so to speak," he had strong reservations presenting the evidence (77:28-30, 46-47). Backes indicated that he wanted to follow through with the evidence, but "didn't want to . . . put a bunch of stuff into evidence that's gonna blow up in our face or make the jury think we're trying to blow smoke at them" (77:28-29). He said it would be "extremely dangerous" to present evidence that Jenkins just happened to be in jail with the real shooter who confessed to him in front of a witness (77:46-47). Backes said that he thought the jury would view the evidence unfavorably and that it was not key to the defense (77:30). He also testified that he was "hoping against hope" that something would come out of the State's interview with Moore, but that his attorney prevented it from happening (77:30).

Backes' actions were reasonable. He investigated Blunt's alleged confession, and was able to speak with Moore about it. Backes then concluded that the evidence did not contribute directly to the chosen defense. He also determined that there was a significant risk that the jury would believe the testimony was implausible and find the rest of the defense less credible. Backes investigated this evidence, considered presenting it, and decided it This is exactly the kind of was not worth it. reasoned trial strategy to which appellate courts are required to defer. See State v. Elm, 201 Wis. 2d 452, 464-65, 549 N.W.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1996) (citations omitted) (court does not second-guess trial counsel's selection of tactics in face of alternatives that counsel has weighed).

Jenkins argues that Backes was deficient because he testified that he found Moore "credible" (Jenkins' brief at 27; 45:35-36; 77:32-33). But simply because Backes might have, as he said, thought Moore would be "a good witness possibly," does not mean he was obligated to call him (77:32-33). Counsel is not required to raise every nonfrivolous defense. See Knowles v. Mirzayance, 556 U.S. 111, 127 (2009). And counsel cannot be judged on a "nothing to lose" standard for failing to present evidence. Id. at 122. Backes did not perform deficiently by not introducing evidence of Blunt's confession.

2. Prejudice.

Jenkins also was not prejudiced by Backes' actions.

Initially, there was no prejudice because, as both the circuit court and the court of appeals held, Backes would not have been able to introduce any evidence of Blunt's supposed confession (80:23-24, 26-27). *Jenkins*, No. 2012AP346-CR, ¶¶ 21-22.

The parties agreed at the *Machner* hearing that Blunt would have denied confessing if he was called to testify (77:8-9). This would have left it to Moore to testify about Blunt's confession, but Moore's attorney likely would not have let him do so. As noted, Backes testified that while he was initially allowed to meet with Moore, his attorney eventually put a stop to any further investigation The circuit court found that Moore's (77:30).counsel "was advising Mr. Moore not to say anything," "wouldn't have him interviewed," and "didn't want him to be available" (80:23-24). statement submitted with Jenkins' Moore's postconviction motion does not indicate that he was willing to appear at trial (45:28-29). If there was no one to testify that Blunt confessed, Jenkins could not be prejudiced.

Jenkins barely acknowledges the circuit court's reasoning in his brief and completely ignores the court of appeals' decision on this issue (Jenkins' brief at 8-9, 27-31). He also does nothing to try to show why the courts were wrong (Jenkins' brief at 27-31). Jenkins has waived any challenge to the courts' decisions by not trying to prove they were in error. *See State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 27 n.9, 682 N.W.2d 433.

Instead, Jenkins devotes most of his argument to trying to show that Moore's testimony would be admissible as a prior inconsistent statement or a statement against interest (Jenkins' brief at 28-31). The State assumes for the purposes of resolving this issue that had Backes wanted and been able to introduce Moore's testimony, it would have been admissible under the rules of evidence.

Further, even if Backes had presented this evidence, it is not reasonably probable that the result of Jenkins' trial would have been different. The jury would have rejected Blunt's supposed confession as implausible.

According Moore's postconviction to statement, Blunt approached both Moore and Jenkins while they were sitting at a table in the Blunt said he recognized iail (45:28; 46:1). Jenkins because of his face and acne scars (45:28: 46:1). He then asked Jenkins where he was from (45:28; 46:1). Blunt next asked him "Do you fuck with those niggers in the 4's?" meaning gangs in the streets numbered in the forties (45:28). Jenkins replied "I know them but I don't fuck with them" (45:28). Blunt then said "I'm from the 3's and I'm going to keep it real with you. Do you know Toy and Anthony? I'm the dude that shot Toy and killed Anthony. They beat up my little brother. Gave him a black eye" (45:28). Jenkins then asked what Blunt was doing when he shot the men, and Blunt replied that he was riding with his brother in a stolen car when he saw Weaver and Kimber (45:29). He had his brother make a u-turn, and he then got out of the car and shot them with a 9-millimeter rifle (45:29). Blunt said Weaver went down right away, and Kimber ran between the houses, "but I got him" (45:29).⁴

Jenkins' postconviction investigator met with Blunt (45:30). He denied knowing Weaver, Kimber, or Jenkins and did not recognize Jenkins from a photo (45:30). Blunt also denied knowing anything about the shooting (45:30).

Jenkins cannot show that the outcome of his trial would likely have been different had the jury heard this evidence. Blunt's alleged confession is unreliable. The jury would have learned that Blunt, Moore, and Jenkins were in jail together, and that Blunt, supposedly recognizing Jenkins because of his distinctive acne as someone he met at a party, confessed that he killed one man and injured another for no other reason than he wanted to "keep it real." The implausibility of the statement would have led the jury to ignore it.

Jenkins argues that the confession was reliable because Moore said Blunt gave details

⁴ Jenkins' affidavit about the conversation recounts Blunt's confession differently than Moore's statement (46). Specifically, Jenkins said he answered Blunt's question about where he was from by saying he "hung out near 38th Street near Garfield and Lloyd" (46:1). Blunt then asked Jenkins if he knew Kimber and Weaver and messed with them, and he said he knew them but did not mess with them because they were "up in the fours" (46:1). Jenkins also said that Blunt asked if he messed with anyone in this area, and Jenkins said he did not (46:1). Blunt's last question to Jenkins was if he had heard what happened to Kimber and Weaver (46:1). Jenkins said he did, and Blunt said "I'm gonna keep it real with you, I shot them" (46:1-2).

about the crimes, including the location, the car taking a u-turn, the type of gun, and that Kimber ran (Jenkins' brief at 30; 45:28-29). But the jury could have easily concluded that Jenkins provided Moore with all of this information.

Jenkins also claims the confession is reliable because it gives Blunt a motive for the shooting, specifically, Weaver and Kimber beating up Blunt's little brother (Jenkins' brief at 30). Jenkins has produced nothing that would verify this happened (Jenkins' brief at 30). His postconviction investigator noted that Blunt had three brothers, but did not apparently follow up with any of them about whether they knew the victims or had been attacked by them (45:30).

Finally, the jury would likely not have believed Moore's testimony because at the time he reported Blunt's confession, he was in jail facing a homicide charge (77:11). While Jenkins claims that Moore's postconviction statement is reliable because his conviction is now final and can gain nothing from testifying, the same would not be true had he testified at trial (Jenkins' brief at 30). Had Backes called Moore to testify, the State could have argued he fabricated Blunt's confession to seek consideration on his own homicide charge.

As noted, most of Jenkins' prejudice argument is dedicated to proving that Moore's testimony would have been admissible under the hearsay rules (Jenkins' brief at 28-30). Jenkins only briefly addresses whether there is a reasonable probability that the evidence would have changed the trial's outcome (Jenkins' brief at 31). He argues Blunt's confession would necessarily have affected the outcome in light of

the deficiencies in the State's case, but he does not fully develop this argument (Jenkins' brief at 31). This court should decline to address it. *See State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992). Jenkins has not proven he was prejudiced.

II. JENKINS IS NOT ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE.

A. Applicable law.

Jenkins next asks this court to grant him a new trial in the interest of justice based on the jury not having heard Jones's testimony or evidence of Blunt's confession (Jenkins' brief at 31-33).

This court has discretionary power to reverse a criminal conviction in the interest of justice. See State v. Burns, 2011 WI 22, ¶ 24, 332 Wis. 2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166. This power arises from both statute and common law. Id. ¶ 24 n.17. See Wis. Stat. § 751.06.

Reversal in the interest of justice is permitted in two situations: (1) when the real controversy has not been fully tried; and (2) when it is probable that justice has miscarried. Burns, 332 Wis. 2d 730, ¶ 24 (citation omitted).

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